NO.: 2008-CA-01442

MARGUERITE B. HOLDER AND HERBERT HOLDER

APPELLANT

VERSUS

ORANGE GROVE MEDICAL SPECIALTIES, P.A., BOYD BENEFIELD, M.D., AND DOES ONE THROUGH FIVE

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned attorney of record for the Appellants, L. Christopher Breard, certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representatives are made in order that the Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal. The persons are:

Stephen G. Peresich, Esq.
Page, Mannino, Peresich & McDermott, P.L.L.C.
P.O. Drawer 289
Biloxi, MS 39533

Honorable Jerry O. Terry Circuit Court Judge Post Office Box 1461 Gulfport, MS 39502

TABLE OF CASES

American Tele. & Tele. Co. v. Days Inn of Winona, 720 So. 2d 178, 180 (MS 1998)1-
Camacho v. Chandler Homes, 862 So. 2d 540 (COA 2003)1
Caracci v. Internat'l Paper Co., 699 So. 2d 546 (MS 1997)
Harvey v. Stone Cty. School Dist., 862 So. 2d 545 (COA 2003)
Hasty v. Namihira, 2008-MS-A0123.003 (COA 2008)
Hensarling v. Holly, 972 So. 2d 716 (MS 2007)1
Hill v. Ramsey, 2009-MS-0227.150-SCT
Hine v. Anchor Lake Property Owners Ass'n, Inc., 911 So. 2d 1001 (MS P. App. 2005)11,1
Lone Star Casino Corp. v. Full House Resorts, Inc., 796 So. 2d 1031 (COA 2001)
MS Dept. of Human Services v. Helton, 741 So. 2d 240 (MS 1999)1
Tinnon v. Martin, 716 So. 2d 604 (MS 1998)
Tolliver Ex Rel. Green v. Mladineo, 987 So. 2d 989 (MS COA 2007)
Watson v. Lillard, 493 So. 2d 1278, 1279 (MS 1986)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
M.R.C.P. Rule 1
M.R.C.P. Rule 37(a)(3)1
M.R.C.P. Rule 37(b)(2)(C)
M.R.C.P. Rule 41(b)
M.R.C.P. Rule 41(d)14, 1:

for Want of Prosecution with prejudice without considering lesser sanctions and erroneously failed to give findings of fact and conclusions of law to support its decision when specifically requested by Plaintiffs' counsel.

Defendants filed their Motion for Enlargement of Time reserving Rule 12 objections and

Defendants filed a Motion to Compel Waiver of Medical Privileges Reserving All Rights and Defenses on February 12, 2007 (R.35). The Certificate of Service was dated the 8th day of February 2007 (R.38). No order was ever entered and no hearing noticed. Defendants filed their First Set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents to Plaintiff on February 12, 2007 (R.39).

On March 8, 2007, the Paralegal for the Holders' counsel faxed a letter to counsel for Defendants advising them the Holders' lawyer, Mr. Breard, was in trial and would not be able to complete discovery until he was out of trial (R.86-87). On May 4, 2007, counsel for Defendants requested when he could expect responses to Dr. Benefield's discovery (R.88). On May 24, 2007, counsel for Defendant re-faxed his May 4, 2007, inquiry regarding Plaintiffs' discovery responses (R.92). Again on June 4, 2007, counsel for Defendants re-faxed the May 4, 2007, inquiry regarding discovery (R.96). In March of 2007 and/or May 2007, Plaintiff provided Defendant with an Authorization to Disclose, Release and Furnish Protected Health Information (R.115 and R.151).

After Plaintiffs had requested a status report on their case, counsel made telephonic requests for the deposition of Dr. Benefield to which there was no response (Tr.16). Counsel for Plaintiff then faxed a request on May 5, 2008, to counsel for Defendant, requesting deposition dates for Defendant Benefield as soon as possible (R.152).

On May 7, 2008, counsel for Plaintiffs filed Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents to the Defendants (R.154 and R.41). In a retaliatory response, Defendants filed their Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute on May 9, 2008, pursuant to M.R.C.P. 41(b)

propounded by Defendants (R.117). Plaintiffs then filed a Motion to Compel the Deposition of Dr. Benefield on May 29, 2008 (R.1002). This was followed by Defendant's Motion to Strike Plaintiffs' Motion to Compel the Deposition (R.106). Plaintiffs filed their Response to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute on July 24, 2008 (R.110). In that response counsel for the Holders' set out the fact he had out of state medical malpractice trials in February and March and another malpractice trial in May of 2007. During this time there was also an appeal brief due to the Supreme Court in another malpractice case (R.110). Plaintiff further argued the Paralegal attending to this matter resigned in August of 2007, and counsel for plaintiff was under the mistaken impression the discovery had been responded to, especially since no further requests had been made by the Defense. Difficulties with office staffing and malpractice trial preparations in September, October and November 2007 were set forth in the response as partial reasons for any delay (R.111).

Counsel explained that realizing the case needed to be moved forward and at the request of the clients, counsel for Plaintiffs personally attempted to contact Stephen Peresich, counsel for Defendant, by phone on several occasions in an effort to schedule the deposition of Dr. Benefield (R.111). It was specifically set forth in the response that the Defense filed no motions to compel discovery and that action of record was taken by Plaintiffs prior to any threat of dismissal for lack of prosecution.

Arguments Of Counsel And Findings/Comments By The Court At The July 25, 2008 Hearing

Counsel for Defendants argued Plaintiffs waited longer than two (2) years to file the

done absolutely nothing to prosecute the case and had not given the defense notice of who this nurse employee was (Tr.4). Arguments by counsel for the Defendants centered largely around Plaintiffs' failure to answer interrogatories and requests for production of documents until after the Motion to Dismiss was filed (Tr.8-9). The Court determined Plaintiffs answered the original discovery thirteen (13) days after the Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute was filed and the preliminary discovery responses were already loaded in the computer (Tr.15 and Tr.21). The Court was advised by counsel for Plaintiffs of office staffing difficulty as well as his hearing/trial calendar. It was uncontradicted that Plaintiffs personally have been cooperative at all times and were not at fault for any delay (Tr.16). The Court was advised of Plaintiff's request for the deposition of Dr. Benefield, and that the request and discovery requests by the Holders' stimulated the Motion to Dismiss (Tr.16). At the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss was the first notice of the alleged urgent need for the nurse's name as it was not mentioned in their written motion.

The Court was advised by Plaintiffs' counsel that the cases cited by the defense were not analogous to the case *sub judice* and that prior lesser sanctions rather than dismissal should be considered (Tr.17-18). The Court was also advised Plaintiffs had provide counsel for defense a medical authorization in 2007 so medical records could be gathered (Tr.18). The Court was advised that there were no motions to compel and no requests for a scheduling order nor was a trial set in this case (Tr.19). It was reiterated the Plaintiffs as opposed to counsel were absolutely blameless for any delays (Tr.19). The Court was made aware that Plaintiffs took action of record in this matter before the defense filed their Motion to Dismiss (Tr.20).

conversations they may have had as set out in the Complaint (Tr.20). There is no evidence this investigation did not take place. The Court was advised by counsel for Plaintiff he believed the discovery had been answered in 2007 and in fact, when he realized it had not been answered, it was filed within thirteen (13) days because it had already been preliminary put into the computer by one of counsel's former paralegals (Tr.21).

The Court asked counsel for Plaintiff what sanctions he believed would be appropriate, and a lesser sanction of a warning of dismissal was suggested as one option as set forth in the various Court of Appeals and Supreme Court opinions. The trial judge was very clear that he disagreed with the Courts of Appeal in giving a warning. It was stated that everyone is supposed to know the rules and obviously the trial court did not believe a warning should be considered as a lesser sanction regardless of the facts (Tr.23). The trial court did specifically agree with Plaintiffs' counsel in that he believed the doctor should know who his nurses were on a specific date enough to make an investigation. The Court admitted that Plaintiffs' counsel's statement was true in that regard (Tr.23). When asked by the trial court defense counsel's position on a lesser sanction, Mr. Peresich stated "In none of these cases did the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court say that a lesser sanction or what your honor just asked me would prevent them from upholding the dismissal that the trial judges entered in these cases because of the fact that the cases lay dormant" (Tr.24). Counsel for the Defendant clearly announced to the Court Dr. Benefield and the clinic denied as a matter of fact that any nurse told Ms. Holder what she alleged (Tr.25). There was no allegation that the medical records showed a blood test to check Ms. Holder's coagulation level had been ordered. Defense argued there was no lesser sanction

the date of the event cannot be taken back nor can any sanction cure that (Tr.26).

Counsel argued to the Court that Tolliver Ex Rel. Green v. Mladineo, 987 So. 2d 989 (MS 2007), was sufficient authority to support dismissal. The Defense argued Tolliver stated merely letting a case lay dormant for seven months was sufficient in itself to support dismissal with prejudice (Tr.27). The Court was again notified that medical authorizations were provided to counsel opposite in 2007. The Court was also advised there was no assertion by the Defense that they attempted to locate the nurse or whether she has a memory of the event or if she was a current employee at this time. It was shown that the delay allegedly caused by Plaintiff was not 48 months as alleged by the Defense but was actually about only thirteen months from when the discovery was originally due to the filing of the Motion to Dismiss (Tr.27). It was argued even if discovery had been answered in May or June of 2007, it is unreasonable to argue that the memory of the nurse would have been any clearer in June of 2007 than it would be in 2008. The few additional months delay would not have reasonably made any difference in the nurse's memory (Tr.28). There was no response by counsel for Defendants to that argument.

Counsel for the Defense acknowledged he did not follow up on his Motion to Waive the Medical Privilege by acknowledging Plaintiffs sent him authorizations and it was not necessary (Tr.29).

The Court in its ruling stated on the record

"In this particular case, I feel like the delays in responding to the discovery and not pursuing the case as it should have been pursued for this period of time is certainly sufficient for the Court to deem that the case was not pursued properly; and it should be dismissed for failure to prosecute the case. And then you don't come in after the fact and start trying to mend the fences. They've already been breached, so that's the end of it. So I sustain you motion. Give me an Order"

are court terused to do so and adopted argument

cited as the basis for dismissal (Tr.30-31). The Court finally cautioned counsel for Defense not to quote him because the record will speak for itself (Tr. 31). No other findings were made or alluded to by the Court.

The judgment granting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss was entered on July 29, 2008 (R.166). That Judgment was entered with prejudice. Notice of Appeal was timely filed on August 19, 2008 (R.168).

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

Whether The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion In Granting Defendant's Motion To Dismiss For Want Of Prosecution With Prejudice Without Considering Lesser Sanctions And Erroneously Failed To Give Findings Of Fact And Conclusions Of Law To Support Its Decision When Specifically Requested By Plaintiffs' Counsel.

The Defense argued as authority for its Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute Tolliver Ex. Rel. Green v. Mladineo, 987 So. 2d 989 (Miss. COA 2007). In Tolliver the Court of Appeals reiterated the following:

"Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 41(b) provides for the dismissal of a stale lawsuit for the failure of the Plaintiff to prosecute the case. However, we are mindful that "the law favors trial of issues on the merits and dismissals for want of prosecution are therefore employed reluctantly." AT&T v. Days Inn, 727 So. 2d 178, 180 (¶12) (Miss. 1998) (Citing Watson v. Lillard, 493 So. 2d 1277, 1278 (Miss. 1986)). A trial court's order of "dismissal with prejudice is an extreme and harsh sanction that deprives a litigant of the opportunity to pursue his claim, and any dismissals with prejudice are reserved for the most egregious cases." Wallace v. Jones, 572 So. 2d 371, 376 (Miss. 1990). We review a trial court's dismissal pursuant to Rule 41(b) for failure to prosecute for abuse of discretion. AT&T v. Days Inn, 727 So. 2d at 180 (¶12); Miss. Dep't of Human Servs. v. Guidry, 837 So. 2d 628, 632 (¶13) (Miss. 2002).

Tolliver v. Mladineo at 997 (¶20)

The Tolliver Court stated further:

Fifth Circuit) (Citing Rogers v. Kroger Co., 665 1. 837 So. 2d at 633 (¶14). An affirmance of a dismissal with prejudice usuany when clear delay or contemptuous conduct has been shown, and there is at least one aggravating factor warranting the harshest sanctions. AT&T, 727 So. 2d at 181 (¶13) (Citing Rogers, 669 F. 2d at 320). Aggravating factors supporting of a dismissal with prejudice are (1) delay caused by the Plaintiff personally, (2) delay causing prejudice to the Defendant and (3) delay resulting from intentional conduct. (Emphasis added).

Id. Tolliver at 977 (¶22).

Tolliver as cited and argued by counsel for the Defense is distinguishable from the case sub judice. First, the Tolliver case had been pending two years and five months. The Holder's case had been pending a year and five months or a year and three months from the answer of the Defendants. There was, in fact, approximately a thirteen month delay in answering Defendant's discovery from the date the discovery was due and approximately a ten-month delay from the last informal request for the discovery responses by the Defendant. While the discovery in the case sub judice should have been answered, the delay was not intentional. There was no notice of the urgent need of the nurse's name until the Motion to Dismiss was argued. Even so, her name was provide in Answers to Interrogatories. Equally important is the fact that there was no argument by the Defense that the medical records of Benefield showed lab tests to check coagulation levels had been ordered or that Ms. Holder failed to follow the doctor' advice. Lab tests can not be performed without a doctor's order so the testimony of the nurse becomes somewhat important since there is no allegation Ms. Holder failed to meet a scheduled appointment or appear for lab tests. The trial court dismissed Tolliver's case holding that a delay in prosecution had clearly occurred and made a specific factual finding in that regard and failing to attend a required docket call. Tolliver at 997 (¶23). The finding of the trial court in the case

The Court stated "In any event, in this particular

case was not pursued properly; that it should be dismissed for failure to prosecute in (Tr.30). (Emphasis added.) This ruling was after the Court acknowledged the Defense could have easily conducted an investigation and questioned the employees (Tr.23). The Holders would submit this is not a clear finding of delay contemplated by the M.R.C.P. 41(b) sufficient to sustain a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute. There was no finding or allegation of intentional delay and no consideration of the fact the Holders did provide a medical waiver to the Defendant. Benefield certainly was aware as Ms. Holder's treating doctor, her hospitalizations relative to the atrial fibrillation, her lab tests and later her stroke.

The Tolliver Court went on to say

"For an appellant court to affirm a dismissal with prejudice based on a record of clear delay or contemptuous conduct, an aggravating factor is usually present. Our Supreme Court has held that if the Plaintiff personally contributed to the delay, that this action can warrant dismissal with prejudice of his case. In this case, we find that delay, in this case, was caused by the Plaintiff (Plaintiffs personally)."

Tolliver at 998 (¶24)

In the case sub judice it was denied the Plaintiffs had done anything to cause or contribute to the delay. In fact, it was argued to the Court the clients were the ones who helped spur activity by inquiring about the status of the case (Tr.16). There was no allegation and no finding by the Court that the Holders' were personally responsible in any way for the delay as an aggravating factor or otherwise. This in and of itself distinguishes the case sub judice from Tolliver and shows one of several flawed basis for the ruling of the trial Court in the case sub judice.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals in Tolliver noted

Tolliver at 998 (¶25)

It should further be noted that the *Tolliver* decision to dismiss the case was actually affirmed on other grounds and not on the failure to prosecute contrary to what Defense counsel inferred to the Trial Court.

Again, it is clear the trial court in *Tolliver* utilized a less drastic sanction than dismissal by first issuing a warning that failure to attend the docket call could result in dismissal. This lesser sanction of a warning of dismissal has been uniformly recognized by the Courts of Appeal and the Mississippi Supreme Court but flatly rejected by the trial court in this case. Recently, the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Hill v. Ramsey*, 2009-MS-0227.150-SCT ¶12 in referring to the dissents' comments stated the following:

"The dissent provides an excellent analysis of a case that is not before us today. Had the judge dismissed the case with prejudice, we might agree with the dissent's logic. However, the case before us today involves a dismissal without prejudice which is hardly a "nuclear option" Hill at (¶11).

The dissent claims that "we are consistently required that a trial court's dismissal for failure to prosecute necessarily abuses its discretion when it does not first consider lesser sanctions." However, all of the cases cited by the dissent involves dismissals with prejudice. Indeed, the "common thread" running through all of the cases is not, as a dissent incorrectly perceives, that Rule 41(b) dismissal could not be employed as a first response, but only when all other attempts to move the case along have proved fruitless"; rather, it is that all of the cases involve dismissals with prejudice."

Hill at ¶12.

Of important note is that *Hill* involved a case that had been pending for nearly seven years. The Defense claimed there had been no real activity for four years. It was undisputed there was no action at all for nineteen months leading up to the dismissal. *Hill* at (¶7). This is

" -- ishable from the case sub indice in that the delay and facts in the Holders'

sanctions after a relatively short delay compare to ---

years.

The Defense also cited *Hine v. Anchor Lake Properties Ass'n, Inc.*, 911 So. 2d 1001 (Miss. P. App. 2005). *Hine* involved a Rule 41(b) dismissal for failure to prosecute when a motion was filed after three years of inactivity and the dismissal occurred four years after the last prosecution of the case. In that case discovery responses were not provided even after the motion to dismiss was file. *Hine* at 1003 (¶7). The *Hine* Court went further in stating

"Rule 41(b) Dismissals with prejudice will be affirmed only upon a showing of "a clear record of delay or contemptuous conduct by the Plaintiff"...and where lesser sanctions would not serve the best interest of justice." Am. Tel., 727 So. 2d at 181 (¶13) (Quoting Rogers v. Kroger Co., 669 F. 2d 317, 320 (5th Cir. 1982)). Whether a dismissal is affirmed also turns on the presence of certain "aggravating factors" including "the extent to which the Plaintiff, as distinguished from his counsel, was personally responsible for the delay, the degree of actual prejudice to the Defendant, and whether the delay was the result of intentional conduct." (Quoting Rogers, 669 F. 2d at 320). (Emphasis added.)

Hine at 1004 (¶10)

In the *Hine* case the Appellate Court found due to Mr. Hine's financial problems it was unlikely he would timely prosecute the case if it was reinstated. *Hine* at 1006 (¶20). In *Hine* there was also a specific finding of actual prejudice as the passage of time may have altered the physical evidence of the landscape and the dam. *Hine* at 1006 (¶18). In the case *sub judice* unlike the Court in *Hine* the trial court clearly agreed with Plaintiffs' counsel that the failure to identify the nurse would not have prevented Benefield and the clinic from talking to the nurses and investigating the claim (Tr. 23). In fact, there was absolutely no showing by the defense nor a response made by the defense to Plaintiffs' argument that an additional thirteen-month delay in identifying the nurse certainly would not have affected the nurse's memory as there had already

ascertain it any broom work was ordered in accer-

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