IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-01442

MARGUERITE B. HOLDER AND HERBERT HOLDER

APPELLANTS

v.

ORANGE GROVE MEDICAL SPECIALTIES, P.A., BOYD BENEFIELD, M.D., AND DOES ONE THROUGH FIVE

APPELLEES

BRIEF FOR APPELLEES, ORANGE GROVE MEDICAL SPECIALTIES, P.A. AND BOYD BENEFIELD, M.D.

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

(228) 432-5539 - FAX

STEPHEN G. PERESICH, ESQ. HARRY J. SCHMIDT, III, ESQ. PAGE, MANNINO, PERESICH & McDERMOTT, P.L.L.C. P.O. DRAWER 289 759 VIEUX MARCHE MALL BILOXI, MS 39533 (228) 374-2100 - PHONE

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES, ORANGE GROVE MEDICAL SPECIALTIES, P.A. AND BOYD BENEFIELD, M.D.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly dismissed this case pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 41(b) for failure of the Plaintiffs to prosecute the case. The Plaintiffs filed their complaint on December 7, 2006, alleging a claim of medical negligence for actions which occurred in October 2004. (R. 9-15). After the Defendants answered the complaint and propounded interrogatories and requests for production of documents, the Plaintiffs failed to further prosecute their case. The Defendants requested the Plaintiffs respond to this important discovery on numerous occasions to no avail. (R. 88, 92, 96). Ultimately, the Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss for Want of Prosecution after a fifteen (15) month period of dormancy with no discovery responses or any other action on behalf of the Plaintiffs to pursue the case! (R. 43-99).

The trial court properly dismissed the case with prejudice after finding the Plaintiffs actions were dilatory and determining that lesser sanctions were not a sufficient remedy. (Tr. 22-31). Mississippi law provides that a case may be dismissed with prejudice for failure to prosecute when there has been a "clear record of delay." *Hine v. Anchor Lake Prop. Owners Ass 'n*, 911 So.2d 1001, 1005 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). In determining the parameters of a "clear record of delay" the Mississippi Court of Appeals found in *Tolliver v. Mladineo*, that a seven (7) month period of dormancy in a case amounted to a clear record of delay. *Tolliver v. Mladineo*, 987 So.2d 989 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Reasonably, the trial court determined that a fifteen (15) month period of dormancy in the matter at hand also amounted to a clear record of delay.

Lesser sanctions would not have served the best interests of justice, and aggravating factors which bolster the Defendants' claim are present. The Plaintiffs argue that lesser sanctions must be applied before a dismissal with prejudice may be granted. This, however, is incorrect. Mississippi law provides that lesser sanctions must be <u>considered</u>, not that they must be applied. AT&Tv. DaysInn, 720 So.2d 178 (Miss. 1998). The trial record clearly shows that lesser sanctions were considered by the court and that the court asked each party for their recommendation as to the potential sanction. (Tr. 22-6). No evidence has been provided by the Plaintiffs to show that lesser sanctions were not properly considered by the trial court. The Defendants have been prejudiced by the extensive period of time since the alleged negligence occurred in 2004 and the failure of the Plaintiffs, for fifteen (15) months, to provide any answers to interrogatories, any responses to requests for production of documents, and any document production whatsoever to support their spurious allegations.

The trial court sufficiently stated its findings of fact in support of its Order of Dismissal. After extensive oral argument from both parties, the trial court explained the basis of its ruling on the record. (Tr. 22-31). While the trial court considered the lesser sanctions on the record, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has previously upheld a motion to dismiss where the record did not even indicate whether the trial court considered the lesser sanctions. *Hensarling v. Holly*, 972 So.2d 716, 719 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). In the matter at hand, the trial court clearly considered all of the issues and stated as such on the record, clearly establishing a sufficient finding of fact in support of the Order of Dismissal. (Tr. 29-31).

While the Plaintiffs provided the trial court with extensive excuses as to why the case was not pursued for fifteen (15) months after the complaint was filed, they provided nothing to justify the clear record of delay. As the trial court found that fifteen (15) months of dormancy was a clear record of delay and that lesser sanctions would not serve justice, the trial court properly entered an Order of Dismissal with Prejudice.

į.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for a Rule 41(b) dismissal is abuse of discretion. *Vosbein v. Bellias*, 866 So.2d 489, 492(¶ 5) (Miss. Ct. App.2004). This Court applies a substantial evidence/ manifest error standard of review to the trial court's grant or denial of a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 41 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. *Sanders v. Riverboat Corp.*, 913 So.2d 351, 354 (Miss. Ct. App.2005), <u>citing Century 21 Deep S. Properties</u>, *Ltd. v. Corson*, 612 So.2d 359, 369 (Miss.1992).

ARGUMENT

I. THE PLAINTIFFS' CASE WAS PROPERLY DISMISSED FOR FAILING TO PROSECUTE THE CASE.

A. INTRODUCTION

Į.

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b) provides that "[f]or failure of the plaintiff to prosecute or comply with these rules or any order of court, a defendant may move for dismissal of an action or of any claim against him." Miss. Rule. Civ. P. 41(b). The trial court is further vested with the inherent power to dismiss Plaintiffs' case against the Defendants in light of Plaintiffs' failure to prosecute. Dismissal for failure to prosecute has been regarded "as a means necessary to control the court's docket and promote the orderly expedition of justice." *Hensarling*, 972 So.2d at 719. In determining whether to dismiss a matter for failure to prosecute, the Court considers three (3) factors: "(1) whether the conduct of the plaintiff can be considered contumacious or dilatory; (2) whether lesser sanctions could be applied; and (3) other aggravating factors." *Hasty v. Namihira*, 986 So.2d 1036, 1040 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). While these three factors are typically considered, "factors other than delay are not required." (emphasis added) *Cox v. Cox*, 976 So.2d 869, 875 (Miss. 2008). "Aggravating factors" only "bolster" a case for dismissal, but they <u>are also not required</u>. *Id.* The trial court properly adhered to this analysis, applied the proper review as

documented in the transcript, and did not abuse its discretion in dismissing the Plaintiffs' case.

B. THE PLAINTIFFS' CONDUCT WAS DILATORY

The Mississippi Court of Appeals has held that "where a clear record of delay has been shown . . . there is no need for a showing of contumacious conduct." *Hine*, 911 So.2d at 1005. Plaintiffs' counsel seeks to excuse his failure to prosecute this case by arguing that "there is no rule that says a case will be dismissed with prejudice for a twelve or thirteen-month delay in prosecution particularly when the case was only fifteen months old." Appellants Brief, p. 13. The Plaintiffs further maintain that "[w]hile the discovery in the case *sub judice* should have been answered, the delay was not intentional." Appellant's Brief, p. 8. However, there is no exception for unintentional neglect, and the Mississippi Supreme Court clearly states that while "[t]here is no set time limit on the prosecuted after its filing or dismissed." *Tolliver*, 987 So.2d at 998, quoting *AT&T*, 720 So.2d at 181. As discussed *infra*, the fact that the case in *Tolliver* was only seventeen months old is irrelevant. The only standard required for dismissal is a "clear record of delay."

Mississippi case law clearly establishes that a fifteen (15) month period of dormancy in a cause where action by the Plaintiff is required, along with repeated requests for action from counsel opposite are unanswered and ignored, subjects a plaintiff to potential dismissal with prejudice. See *Tolliver* 987 So.2d 989 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). The facts of the *Tolliver* decision show that no activity took place in that case between September 1, 2004, and April 21, 2005, when plaintiffs' counsel failed to appear at a docket call. *Tolliver*, 987 So.2d at 998. The Court stated in its decision, "[t]he time between the change in counsel and the docket call amounted to seven months wherein activity on the case lay entirely dormant. We find that the record sufficiently shows a clear record of delay." *Id.*

į.

ŧ

Plaintiffs' counsel seeks to distinguish the present case from *Tolliver* by arguing that the *Tolliver* case was pending for two years and five months, while the Holder case had only been pending for a year and five months. Appellant's Brief, p. 8. As the Court is aware, the total pendency of the case is not the issue, rather the period of delay or dilatory conduct is the issue. The Court clearly states in *Tolliver* that seven months of dormancy showed a clear record of delay. *Id.*

The facts of this case show that the Defendants filed their Answer to Complaint along with their First Set of Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents on February 12, 2007, seeking answers to well-pointed interrogatories, responses to requests for production of supporting documents, and document production from the Plaintiffs. And, the Plaintiffs subsequently failed to take any action to prosecute the case. Plaintiffs' counsel acknowledged receipt of the discovery requests in his fax dated March 8, 2007. (R. 98). However, despite repeated correspondence sent to the Plaintiffs on May 4, 2007, May 24, 2007, and June 4, 2007, inquiring when Plaintiffs' responses to discovery would be completed, no response was ever received from Plaintiffs. (R. 88, 92, 96).

The Plaintiffs initiated this case, making serious charges of medical neglect against these defendant health care providers, and <u>then essentially dropped the case for fifteen (15) months</u>. The Plaintiffs' Complaint contains allegations that on October 13, 2004, Mrs. Holder was told by an unknown nurse employee of the clinic that additional blood work would not be necessary because it had been performed the week before. (R. 12). The Plaintiffs allege that the failure to perform this study on October 13, 2004, constituted negligence. (R. 13). The Defendants' First Set of Interrogatories and Request for Production requests the Plaintiffs identify all persons with knowledge of the Plaintiffs' allegations and specifically with knowledge of the allegations related to the clinic visit on October 13, 2004, when she alleges she was told that additional blood work was

ι.

not necessary. (R. 70-2, 74). Additionally, the Defendants requested the identity and contact information for all of the Plaintiffs' medical providers related to this incident. (R. 79). This information was specifically requested by the Defendant in order to obtain the identity of the individuals allegedly involved, further investigate the claims, and begin preparing a defense to the allegations. The plaintiffs in a medical negligence action bear the burden of establishing a doctor-patient relationship, identifying the requisite standard of care, establishing a failure to conform to this standard of care, as well as injury and damages. *McCaffrey v. Puckett*, 784 So.2d 197, 206 (Miss.2001). The Defendant's interrogatories and requests for production of documents seek to obtain the basis for the Plaintiffs' allegations of medical negligence. However, as the Plaintiffs refused to respond to these discovery requests, the Defendants were left in a position of waiting an inordinate amount of time to even begin a defense to the case.

Furthermore, the Plaintiffs fail to cite any relevant case law which supports their position that there is no clear record of delay when one files suit and then fails to pursue the case for fifteen months after the complaint is answered. The cases cited in Appellants' brief, *Comacho v. Chandler Homes*, 862 So. 2d 540 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) and *Lone Star Casino Corp. v. Full House Resorts, Inc.*, 796 So. 2d 1031 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) are irrelevant to this case, as they both pertain to cases in which the plaintiffs were seeking new representation by counsel. In this matter, the Holders were represented by the same counsel from the beginning, but still failed to prosecute the case.

Similar to *Tolliver*, the Plaintiffs here certainly established a clear record of delay by failing to prosecute their case for nearly fifteen (15) months despite repeated requests for action made by the Defendants, all of which were ignored. This clear record of delay alone is a sufficient basis for dismissal. *Cox*, 976 So.2d at 875.

1.

C. LESSER SANCTIONS WERE CONSIDERED BY THE TRIAL COURT BUT THEY WOULD NOT CURE THE PREJUDICE TO THE DEFENDANTS

The Court must consider whether lesser sanctions would better serve the interests of justice. These sanctions include "fines, costs, or damages against plaintiff or his counsel, attorney disciplinary measures, conditional dismissal, dismissal without prejudice, and explicit warnings." AT&T, 720 So.2d at 181-2. The Plaintiffs are incorrect in arguing that lesser sanctions <u>must</u> be applied and supporting this argument by citing factually different cases in which lesser sanctions have been applied. In fact, a Court must only <u>consider</u> whether lesser sanctions would better serve the interests of justice. AT&T, 720 So.2d at 181. There is no requirement that a court actually apply lesser sanctions. Where the court finds that lesser sanctions would not suffice under the circumstances, as when they could not cure the prejudice cased by the delay, a court has no duty to employ lesser sanctions. *Cox*, 976 So.2d at 876.

The trial court sufficiently considered lesser sanctions, but ultimately chose not to employ a lesser sanction. While the Mississippi Supreme Court is less likely to uphold a dismissal based upon Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 41(b) "where there is no indication in the record that the lower court considered any alternative sanctions," that is not the case in this matter. *Cox*, 976 So.2d at 876, quoting AT & T, 720 So.2d at 181. The trial record shows that lesser sanctions were considered by the judge and discussed by all parties at the hearing. (Tr. 23-27). Counsel for the Plaintiffs specifically requested a warning when asked by the trial court what sanction would be appropriate. (Tr. 22-3). The trial court then asked counsel for the Defendants what sanctions should be imposed. Counsel argued that no lesser sanction other than dismissal would be appropriate, given recent case law and the prejudice which had been incurred by the Defendants. (Tr. 24-6).

÷.

While the Plaintiffs requested the trial court merely issue a warning, the actions of Plaintiffs ignoring the Motion to Dismiss further illustrate why lesser sanctions would not serve justice. The

Defendants filed their Motion to Dismiss on May 9, 2008. The Plaintiffs failed to file any response to the Motion to Dismiss within the requisite ten days provided in Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 4.03. Then, after receiving no response from counsel opposite regarding a date for setting of the hearing, notice was provided on June 5, 2008, of the hearing to be held on July 25, 2008. (R. 104-5). The Plaintiffs did ultimately file a response to the motion, but not until late on the afternoon of July 24, 2008, the day before the hearing. Interestingly, the Plaintiffs' Response did not cite a single case in support of their argument to deny the Motion to Dismiss. The Plaintiffs' Response only argued that the Defendants' cases were factually distinguishable and showed a requirement for application of lesser sanctions. (R. 11-114) This, in fact, is a misstatement of the law, as discussed *supra*.

Plaintiffs' counsel takes the position that a Plaintiff can file a lawsuit alleging that medical providers committed medical malpractice causing serious injury, refuse to provide sworn interrogatory answers of the facts supporting the allegations, refuse to respond to document production, refuse to produce a single document, all needed to investigate and defend the allegations, ignore repeated requests for the discovery, and essentially drop the case for fifteen (15) months with impunity; and when a motion to dismiss is filed for failure to prosecute take the position that the trial court can do nothing about that except issue a "warning". Any such notion should be quickly quelled by this Court and not condoned. Clearly, in light of the Plaintiffs' failure to adhere to the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, ignoring counsel's repeated requests for discovery, the inordinate delay of fifteen (15) months, the failure to timely respond to the motion to dismiss pursuant to the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules, and given the prejudice already placed upon the Defendants by the Plaintiffs' dilatory actions, the trial court properly determined that lesser sanctions would not better serve the interests of justice.

ι.

ι.

D. AGGRAVATING FACTORS ARE PRESENT AND THEY BOLSTER THE DEFENDANTS' CASE FOR DISMISSAL, THOUGH THEY ARE NOT NECESSARY FOR DISMISSAL.

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